2008

Marian C. Olson v. Bradley L. Olson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

As provided by statute, the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the district court err in finding that the debt to Cache Valley Bank was a marital debt? Did the district court improperly ignore UCA § 30-2-5 and illegally make Marian Olson liable for a personal debt of Brad Olson? Did the district court err in finding that the debt to Capitol Building Supply was a marital debt? Did the district court err in finding the value of the Nibley home to be \$550,000? Did the district court err in allowing the corporate veil to be pierced? Did the district court err in awarding only \$1000 in monthly alimony? Did the district court err in not allowing alimony to commence immediately? Did the district court err in requiring the parties to sell the Nibley home? Did the district court err in not allowing Jack Peterson to testify in full? Did the district court make an inequitable division of property? Did the district court err in determining that Appellant would not be awarded her attorney's fees in relation to this case?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard for review for this matter is that the appellate court should give no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law and review the legal conclusions reached by the trial court for correctness. See, Kenny v. Rich, 186 P.3d 989, 997 (Utah App.

2008) Findings of fact are set aside if they are found to be clearly erroneous by the appellate court. See, Ockey v. Lehmer 189 P.3d 51, 59-60 (Utah 2008).

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS WHOSE
INTERPRETATION ARE DETERMINATIVE**

None.

STATUTES WHOSE INTERPRETATIONS ARE DETERMINATIVE

Utah Code Annotated § 30-2-5

- (1) Neither spouse is personally liable for the separate debts, obligations, or liabilities of the other:
 - (a) contracted or incurred before marriage;
 - (b) contracted or incurred during marriage, except family expenses as provided in Section 30-2-9;
 - (c) contracted or incurred after divorce or an order for separate maintenance under this title, except the spouse is personally liable for that portion of the expenses incurred on behalf of a minor child for reasonable and necessary medical and dental expenses, and other similar necessities as provided in a court order under Section 30-3-5, 30-4-3, or 78B-12-212, or an administrative order under Section 62A-11-326; or
 - (d) ordered by the court to be paid by the other spouse under Section 30-3-5 or 30-4-3 and not in conflict with Section 15-4-6.5 or 15-4-6.7.
- (2) The wages, earnings, property, rents, or other income of one spouse may not be reached by a creditor of the other spouse to satisfy a debt, obligation, or liability of the other spouse, as described under Subsection (1).

Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-5(8)

- (a) The court shall consider at least the following factors in determining alimony:
 - (i) the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse;
 - (ii) the recipient's earning capacity or ability to produce income;
 - (iii) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support;
 - (iv) the length of the marriage;

- (v) whether the recipient spouse has custody of minor children requiring support;
 - (vi) whether the recipient spouse worked in a business owned or operated by the payor spouse; and
 - (vii) whether the recipient spouse directly contributed to any increase in the payor spouse's skill by paying for education received by the payor spouse or allowing the payor spouse to attend school during the marriage.
- (b) The court may consider the fault of the parties in determining alimony.
- (c) As a general rule, the court should look to the standard of living existing at the time of separation, in determining alimony in accordance with Subsection (8)(a). However, the court shall consider all relevant facts and equitable principles and may, in its discretion, base alimony on the standard of living that existed at the time of trial. In marriages of short duration, when no children have been conceived or born during the marriage, the court may consider the standard of living that existed at the time of the marriage.
- (d) The court may, under appropriate circumstance, attempt to equalize the parties' respective standards of living.
- (e) When a marriage of long duration dissolves on the threshold of a major change in the income of one of the spouses due to the collective efforts of both, that change shall be considered in dividing the marital property and in determining the amount of alimony. If one spouse's earning capacity has been greatly enhanced through the efforts of both spouses during the marriage, the court may make a compensating adjustment in dividing the marital property and awarding alimony.
- (f) In determining alimony when a marriage of short duration dissolves, and no children have been conceived or born during the marriage, the court may consider restoring each party to the condition which existed at the time of the marriage.
- (g) (i) The court has continuing jurisdiction to make substantive changes and new orders regarding alimony based on a substantial material change in circumstances not foreseeable at the time of the divorce.

- (ii) The court may not modify alimony or issue a new order for alimony to address needs of the recipient that did not exist at the time the decree was entered, unless the court finds extenuating circumstances that justify that action.
- (iii) In determining alimony, the income of any subsequent spouse of the payor may not be considered, except as provided in this Subsection (8).
 - (A) The court may consider the subsequent spouse's financial ability to share living expenses.
 - (B) The court may consider the income of a subsequent spouse if the court finds that the payor's improper conduct justifies that consideration.
- (h) Alimony may not be ordered for a duration longer than the number of years that the marriage existed unless, at any time prior to termination of alimony, the court finds extenuating circumstances that justify the payment of alimony for a longer period of time.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The purpose of this appeal is to review the decision of the trial court in relation to its final decree of divorce in dividing property, debt, and assets of the parties. Appellant Marian Olson did not receive equitable treatment by the trial court in the final divorce decree. There are several errors made by the trial court which are set forth in more detail in the body of this Opening Brief, the cumulative effect thereof are an inequitable detriment to Marian Olson. The single most significant inequity was the trial court's decision to render Marian Olson liable for corporate debts for which she had no personal liability. Moreover, the court should not have ordered the house to be sold, but should have awarded the house to Marin Olson with a lien in favor of Brad Olson's interest, if

any. In addition, the alimony awarded to Marian Olson was wholly insufficient and should not have been conditioned upon the sale of the home. Also, the overall distribution of the parties' assets was inequitable. Finally, there were several other errors by the trial court which are enumerated in more detail below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Appellant Marian C. Olson and Appellee Bradley L. Olson were married in Smithfield, Utah on November 18, 1989. This is a second marriage for both Parties, and no issue were born to the Parties. R.667.

2. Although the Parties have been married for more than 18 years, the Parties have been living separately since December 2004. R.667.

3. Appellant Marian C. Olson resides in Nibley, Utah in the Parties' marital home located at 3818 South 250 East, Nibley, Utah. R.668.

4. The Appellee lives in Las Vegas, Nevada and works in the construction industry. R.667.

5. The Parties were shareholders in a corporation known as B&B Drywall, Inc. Appellant and Appellee were each 50% shareholders in that corporation. R.668.

6. The corporation has gone into receivership and is no longer active. See, Tr. page 11, lines 1-25.

7. Appellant had previously owned a home in Smithfield, Utah where the Parties had resided for the early part of their marriage. R.669.

8. In July 1998, Appellant Marian Olson sold that home and received more than \$108,000.00 in equity which was immediately used for the Nibley home. R.669.

9. Those funds were used to pay off the construction loan which had been obtained to build the Nibley home in 1998. R.669.

10. The Parties moved into the Nibley home and they owned it as joint tenants free and clear. See, Tr. page 12, line 6.

11. As president of the company and as the decision maker of day-to-day business affairs of B&B Drywall, Inc., Bradley Olson obtained various business loans from Cache Valley Bank for the benefit of B&B Drywall. The loans were made in 2004 and 2005 for \$250,000.00 and \$50,000.00 respectively. See, Tr. page 153, lines 8-16.

12. Cache Valley Bank did not require the Nibley home as collateral for the debts. Tr. page 458, lines 4-24.

13. The only collateral which Cache Valley Bank took for the debts were the assets of B&B Drywall, Inc. Tr. page 458, lines 4-24

14. Cache Valley Bank obtained a personal guaranty from Bradley Olson with regard to the above-referenced business debt but did not require or request a personal guaranty from Marian Olson. Tr. page 433, line 24 – page 434 line 5.

15. During their marriage, Marian Olson had generally refused to become a co-signer on business debt and had always refused to place her home up as collateral for business debt. Tr. 255, lines 3-14.

16. Marian Olson's intention in not allowing the home to be used as collateral and not personally guaranteeing business debts was to protect all of her interest in the Smithfield home and later all of her interest in the Nibley home. Tr. 255.

17. After the divorce was filed Bradley Olson allowed for any interest that he had in the Nibley home to go to Cache Valley Bank by way of a trust deed. Tr. page 459, lines 1-8.

18. Bradley Olson disposed of several assets prior to finalizing the divorce decree. See, Tr. page 216, line 22 – page 217 line 19.

19. Brad sent a general letter on August 4, 2005 (3 days after the divorce petition was filed) to business associates notifying them that he was shutting down B&B Drywall, Inc. See, Tr. page 129, lines 3-6; Petitioner's Exhibit Tab 31.

20. In the Decree of Divorce, the trial court did not award the marital home to either of the Parties but rather stated that the home should be sold to satisfy the debt to Cache Valley Bank. See, Decree of Divorce ¶2. R.688-89. The trial court did allow for the first \$108,000.00 arising out of the sale to be awarded to Marian Olson. See, Tr. page 711, lines 14-22.

21. The trial court determined the value of the home to be worth \$550,000.00. See, Tr. page 710, line 13 – page 711 line 13.

22. Brad obtained advice from Cache Valley Bank's attorney, George Daines. See, Tr. page 194, lines 11-19 and Tr. page 225, lines 13-19.

23. Cache Valley Bank admits that Marian Olson is not liable for the debt because she did not sign a personal guarantee. Tr. page 466, lines 6-9.

24. For convenience purposes Appellant Marian Olson is sometimes referenced herein simply as "Marian" and Appellee Bradley Olson is sometimes referenced herein as "Brad".

SUMMARY OF APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in finding that Marian Olson was liable to Cache Valley Bank for the debt of B&B Drywall, Inc. when she was not an obligor for that debt. The court's ruling which requires the parties to sell the Nibley house and pay the full Cache Valley Bank trust deed violates Utah Code Annotated § 30-2-5. The cumulative effect of the above was to illegally elevate the rights of Cache Valley Bank above the rights of Marian Olson. The court essentially allowed for the corporate veil to be pierced when it was not merited and without sufficient evidence. The trial court further erred in its rulings relating to alimony. Alimony should have been awarded to Marian in the amount of \$2,000.00 per month and should have been awarded retroactively. The court's ruling regarding alimony should have commenced immediately rather than being conditioned upon the sale of the house. The Capitol Building Supply debt was not a marital debt, but the LKL debt was marital debt because both parties had personally guaranteed it. The record does not support the court's finding as to the value of the home. Bradley Olson should not benefit from selling assets in violation of the court's order. Attorney's fees should have been awarded to Marian Olson. Appellant's witness, Jack Peterson, was not allowed to testify as to the full scope of his testimony. The trial court should not have

made any orders regarding the protective order in this case. Judge Willmore should have been removed as the judge presiding over this case.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT'S RULING WHICH REQUIRES THE PARTIES TO SELL THE NIBLEY HOUSE TO PAY THE CACHE VALLEY BANK DEBT VIOLATES UTAH CODE ANNOTATED § 30-2-5.

Utah Code Annotated § 30-2-5 provides as follows:

(1) Neither spouse is personally liable for the separate debts, obligations, or liabilities of the other: (a) contracted or incurred before marriage; (b) contracted or incurred during marriage, except family expenses as provided in Section 30-2-9; (c) ...; (d) ordered by the court to be paid by the other spouse under Section 30-3-5 or 30-4-3 and not in conflict with Section 15-4-6.5 or 15-4-6.7.

(2) The wages, earnings, property, rents, or other income of one spouse may not be reached by a creditor of the other spouse to satisfy a debt, obligation, or liability of the other spouse as described under Subsection (1).

The trial court's ruling with regard to Cache Valley Bank and the Nibley house directly violates the above referenced statute. Marian Olson was never personally obligated in any way, shape, or form on any loan to Cache Valley Bank, much less the amount of \$341,159.76. Marian Olson did not sign any loan documents in favor of Cache Valley Bank. Tr. page 466, lines 6-9. Cache Valley Bank knew when it extended the loans to B&B Drywall, Inc. that Marian Olson was not making herself personally liable and further knew that the house was not collateral for the debt. Id. Bradley Olson also knew this same information. The Nibley house was free and clear of any and all debt at the time that the divorce action was filed. As of the date of the divorce action, August 1,

2005, there was no debt, lien, or other obligation encumbering the Nibley house. Tr. page 12, line 6. The trial court found that the house was worth \$550,000.00 and yet despite that, Marian Olson is now coming out of the divorce with only \$108,000.00 and is under a stayed order to be evicted from the house which the parties previously owned free and clear.

Brad incurred more than \$300,000.00 in debt to Cache Valley Bank during the parties' marriage. He was a personal guarantor on the B&B Drywall, Inc. debt in the same amount. Tr. 466, lines 6-9. B&B obtained loans from Cache Valley Bank in 2003 for \$100,000.00, in 2004 for \$250,000.00, and 2005 for \$50,000.00. Brad personally guaranteed those loans. Tr. page 433, line 24 – page 434 line 5. Marian did not. Id. Therefore under Utah Code Annotated § 30-2-5, these were debts incurred by Brad Olson during the course of their marriage. These loans were incurred for business expenses of B&B Drywall. Tr. 425 line 22 – page 426, line 12. In other words, these loans were not for family expenses.

The effect of the court's ruling is to make Marian Olson personally liable for the separate debt of Bradley Olson to Cache Valley Bank. Such an outcome is in direct conflict with Utah Code Annotated § 30-2-5(2) which specifically states that the property of one spouse may not be reached by a creditor of the other spouse to satisfy a debt, obligation, or liability of the other spouse. Moreover, it is insufficient in and of itself to elevate the claims of Cache Valley Bank over the rights of the Parties to the divorce. Further, it only benefits Bradley Olson to use assets of the marital estate to pay for Bradley Olson's personal debt. Marian Olson specifically and intentionally, during the

course of the marriage, avoided signing personal guarantees of business debt and specifically and intentionally avoided allowing the house to be encumbered by business debt (except with LKL Associates). Tr. page 255, lines 3-14. There is no written document which was signed by Marian Olson establishing her alleged liability to Cache Valley Bank. Tr. page 434, lines 1-5.

In Finlinson v. Finlinson, 874 P.2d 843 (Utah App. 1994) the Utah Court of Appeals found that a similar ruling by a trial court in favor of a third party was inappropriate. The trial court had ordered the divorce parties to sign a quit claim deed of a lot which had been titled in the parties' names. The court ordered that the property should be awarded to a non-party to the action. In overturning that ruling, the appellate court stated, "Even so, absent some kind of intervention, a divorce action deals only with rights as between the parties to the marriage and does not operate to assert the rights of a third-party." Id. at 850. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's conclusion that the lot was not marital property and reversed the order regarding the quit claim deed. The Court of Appeals further ordered that the trial court should make an equitable division of the lot as a marital asset between the parties to the divorce action.

In this case, the trial court has abused its discretion by making an order that the Nibley home be sold to Cache Valley Bank. R.775. The trial court only has the authority to determine as between the parties to the divorce action who owns the property and to allocate the debts. The trial court has not made a direct finding that Marian Olson is responsible for the Cache Valley Bank debt. However, the effect of the court's order is to do that very thing. There are insufficient findings nor is there sufficient law to support

elevating the rights of Cache Valley Bank above those of Marian Olson. In fact, it is in direct contravention of law to allow Marian Olson to be liable for the Cache Valley Bank debt when Cache Valley Bank did not require her personal guaranty and when Cache Valley Bank did not require a security interest in the Nibley house. See, Utah Code Annotated § 30-2-5. Subsection (2) of § 30-2-5 is clear that the property of one spouse may not be reached by a creditor of the other spouse to satisfy a debt of the other spouse.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT MARIAN OLSON WAS LIABLE TO CACHE VALLEY BANK FOR THE DEBT OF B&B DRYWALL, INC. WHEN SHE DID NOT PERSONALLY GUARANTEE THE DEBT.

The court's ruling purportedly uses a theory of commingling to accomplish what the statute expressly disallows. This court should reverse that ruling. It is undisputed that Marian Olson did not sign a personal guaranty in favor of Cache Valley Bank, but that Bradley Olson did sign such a document. Tr. page 433, line 24 – page 434, line 5.

Appellee has argued and will likely continue to argue that the decision of the court in Colman v. Colman, 743 P.2d 782 (UT. App. 1987) allowed the trial court to pierce the corporate veil as persuasive authority supporting the result of this case. Indeed, the Colman case did allow for the corporate veil to be pierced and the husband's corporate assets to be distributed as part of the marital estate. However, that theory and finding in Colman is much different from what the trial court did in this matter. The trial court made Marian Olson liable for corporate debts when she had not personally guaranteed them! Apparently, the trial court was piercing the corporate veil to accomplish this result. The trial court did not mention veil piercing in its findings of fact and conclusions

of law. While the court did mention commingling, the court did not review the elements of veil-piercing and certainly has no precedent for doing so. In the Colman case the issue was whether or not the wife could pierce the corporate veil to reach assets that the husband claimed belonged to one of his companies and not to him. In Colman, the husband had been using a corporate veil as a shield to protect him from having to split assets. The Colman court pierced that corporate veil. In this case, the husband is attempting to use the corporate veil as a sword to obligate his former spouse for debts that she did not sign or incur. There is no precedent for using a corporate veil theory in this matter.

“Ordinarily a corporation is regarded as a separate and distinct legal entity from its stockholders.” Dockstader v. Walker, 29 Utah 2d 370, 510 P.2d 526, 528 (1973). Marian refused to personally guarantee the Cache Valley Bank loans. Tr. 255, lines 3-14. Brad could have decided not to get the loan when she refused the personal guarantee. Now Brad is trying to get the legal system to change that decision which he made.

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