2008

Marian C. Olson v. Bradley L. Olson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After taking oral and documentary evidence, and having an opportunity to judge the credibility of the witnesses, the trial court determined that the evidence justified treating the parties' corporation (B & B Drywall) as the alter ego of the parties. In support of this determination the trial court made several findings: 1) that the parties were the only shareholders, officers, and directors of the closely held corporation; 2) that the parties had knowingly co-mingled their personal and the corporation's finances; 3) that the parties had knowingly and willfully siphoned off corporation funds for their personal benefit; 4) that the parties had improperly dominated the corporation for their personal benefit; 5) that the corporation was undercapitalized; 6) that the corporation had never paid dividends; 7) that

the parties had not observed corporate formalities; and 8) treating the corporation separately under the circumstances of this case would lead to an unjust or inequitable result.

Consequently the trial court included all of the corporate assets and debts as part of the marital estate and then proceeded to order an equitable division of those assets and liabilities it determined comprised the marital estate. Wife asserts that the findings do not justify application of the alter ego doctrine. In addition Wife asserts that the trial court's award of \$1,000.00 per month alimony (beginning the month after the sale of the parties home) is inadequate and that the order of the trial court to the effect that each party to bear their own attorney fees is in error.

Wife appeals multiple issues. However, because she failed to ascertain the correct standards of review for the several issues she raises, her brief merely re-argues the same facts that were unpersuasive to the trial court. Wife frames certain issues as questions of law to avoid the marshaling requirement. In doing so, however, she fails to take advantage of the opportunity that marshaling provides: to take a second look at the issue in light of the broad deference owed to the fact finder at trial. Consequently the issues Wife raises are not meritorious, because they are not discussed in light of the controlling case law or the controlling standards of review. The trial court did not commit error as to any of the issues Wife raises and there is ample evidence in the record to sustain the trial court's findings and conclusions. Taking into consideration the facts and circumstances of this case, the trial court's ruling implements an equitable division of the marital estate.

Because several of the issues are fact sensitive, Wife has the burden to first marshal all evidence supporting the trial court's findings and show that the evidence supporting the trial court's ruling is legally insufficient to support the findings, viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below. In the absence of proper marshaling this Court traditionally assumes the evidence adduced at trial supports the trial court's findings and accordingly affirms.

ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court did not commit error in piercing the corporate veil and treating all the corporation's assets and liabilities as marital assets and marital debts, and ordering an equitable distribution of what the court determined to be the marital estate.**

This issue presents a mixed standard of review, with the trial court accorded a broad measure of discretion when applying the correct legal standard to the given set of facts. Wife attempts to circumvent the burden to marshal the evidence by attempting to frame her appealed issues as questions of law. There are several problems with this approach. First, it ignores the mixed standard of review this issue requires. (*See p. 2, infra*) Second, in so doing, Wife completely mischaracterizes what the trial court found and ordered. The trial court did not find that Wife was personally liable to Cache Valley Bank for a corporate debt. The trial court did not find or make Wife personally liable for any separate debt of Husband in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 30-2-5. The trial court found that the totality of the evidence supported a determination that the corporation was the alter ego of the parties and

that to accomplish an equitable distribution of the marital estate, all of the corporation assets and liabilities should be treated as marital assets and marital liabilities. (*Finding #23; Conclusions #2, #6 and #7*) The trial court then proceeded to make an equitable distribution of what the trial court determined to be the total marital estate. (*Finding #18; Conclusion #7*)

The trial court, after hearing all the evidence and having an opportunity to judge the credibility of the witnesses, found there was a sufficient factual basis to meet the legal requirement to treat the corporation as the alter ego of the parties. Wife claims that the trial court did not mention veil piercing in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (*Wife's brief p. 12*) This is not true. The trial court entered detailed findings and conclusions supporting such. Wife objected to the proposed findings and conclusions, and the trial court overruled her objections. The trial court's relevant findings and conclusions supporting its decision to treat the corporation as the alter ego of the parties are set forth below. A fair and impartial reading of these findings and conclusions reveals that the trial court was familiar with applicable law and made ample findings in support of its decision:²

FINDINGS OF FACT

[. . .]

3. Smithfield Home. At the time of the parties marriage, Wife owned a home in Smithfield, Utah which she and her prior Husband had acquired 11 years earlier. After the marriage the parties lived in the Smithfield home for nine (9) years, during which time both parties

² Husband has provided emphasis by underlining particularly relevant portions of a finding and/or conclusion.

contributed to the mortgage payments and maintenance of the home. Husband testified that he also contributed improvements to the Smithfield residence in the form of finishing basement rooms and other construction labor and materials, which he estimated, based on his construction experience, exclusive of his labor to be approximately \$6-8,000.00. Husband further testified that materials that were purchased for the improvements to the Smithfield home were run through and “expensed off” through the drywall business, B & B Drywall, Inc.

4. B & B Drywall Incorporation. After the parties were married, Husband incorporated his drywall and acoustical business. Following incorporation, the Husband and Wife were equal (50%/50%) shareholders, were both directors, as well as officers of the corporation and each drew a salary from the corporation. Husband acted as the corporation’s president and secretary, and the Wife acted as the corporation’s vice-president.

[. . .]

6. Nibley Home. In November 1996, the parties acquired a building lot in Nibley, Utah. The lot was acquired in the parties’ joint names. [*Petitioner’s Ex. #1, tab 27*] The building lot was purchased for \$48,500.00 and was purchased with B & B Drywall, Inc., funds. During late 1997 and early 1998 the parties constructed a home on the lot in Nibley, Utah. The Nibley residence is approximately 6,000 square feet and lies on the west bank of the Blacksmith Fork River in Nibley, Utah. The home is completely finished (sheet rocked and painted throughout) including the basement. The 6,000 square foot home was constructed partially with a \$125,000.00 construction loan from Cache Valley Bank, which the parties obtained in November 1997. [*Petitioner’s Ex. #1, tab 3*] Husband testified that a significant amount of the building materials (lumber, drywall, wiring, etc.) used to build the home was purchased by B & B Drywall, Inc., and “expensed off” by the corporation; that labor from B & B employees, was used in the construction of the home; that trades (primarily labor) were made by B & B with other subcontractors (electrical, foundation, framing, etc.) which benefitted the parties personally, and which the parties never reimbursed B & B Drywall. Husband also testified that the \$125,000.00 construction loan was used primarily for the acquisition of building materials and that primarily B & B traded labor with other subcontractors.

7. Nibley Shop. In addition to the Nibley home, the parties constructed a large shop adjacent to the home. Husband testified that the shop was built at a cost of approximately \$75,000.00. Husband testified that the materials and labor for the shop also came from B & B Drywall, Inc. The shop is entirely finished - sheet rocked and painted - and has balconies at both the east and west ends of the shop. After the shop was built it was used primarily to store B & B equipment and supplies as well as some of the parties' personal property, including the Husband's woodworking equipment which was also purchased with B & B funds.

[. . .]

10. Equipment in Nibley Shop. The Court finds from a preponderance of the evidence that Petitioner had control over and cannot account for substantial property stored in the Nibley shop including the B & B equipment and other property as evidenced by the photographs taken by Terry Oliver, a loan officer for Cache Valley Bank, all the parties guns, as well as the money in the two (2) safes. Petitioner testified she has disposed of all of the guns, including Respondent's guns.

[. . .]

14. Timeshare. In March 2001, the parties purchased a timeshare from Worldmark (formerly Trendwest Resorts) for \$10,440.00. Husband testified that from the date of purchase until he left the marital residence in December, 2004 that B & B Drywall, Inc., paid the installment payments and quarterly dues on the timeshare. The purchase contract lists the parties and B & B Drywall, Inc., as the purchaser of the timeshare interest. [Respondents Ex. #1, tab 8] The Court finds that the Petitioner has had exclusive possession, control, benefit, and use of the same since their separation in December 2004. The Court finds the value of the timeshare to be \$6,500.00 and the Court awards it to the Petitioner as her sole and separate property, she also being solely responsible for any and all debt or maintenance on such.

15. Knowledge of Co-mingling of Business and Personal Accounts. Wife claimed that she was unaware that the family business (B & B Drywall, Inc.) had been used to pay for the construction of the home, the shop, home furnishings, personal woodworking tools, the timeshare, their personal living expenses and/or other non-business expenditures.

However, she was an officer, director and shareholder of the company since its incorporation and she testified that as vice-president part of her job duties included balancing the bank statements. David Saunders, the B & B Drywall, Inc., company accountant, testified that Wife gave him instructions not to reconcile the bank statements because she had already done that. During the process of reconciling the bank statements she would have had an opportunity to see exactly what the company checks were being written for. Furthermore Wife also admitted during cross-examination that in her deposition she testified that she was aware that the company had purchased personal items such as a treadmill, golf clubs, and other items without claiming the items as income from the corporation. Husband testified that it was not uncommon for them to utilize the B & B checking account to purchase personal goods as well as to place personal items on the company credit card and then pay off the company credit card using a company check. According to Husband's testimony, these items included the timeshare, materials for the Nibley home, home furnishings such as couches, personal woodworking equipment, a pool table, and other furnishings and fixtures. The Court finds that both the parties knew they were using B & B Drywall funds for their personal use and benefit.

16. Cache Valley Bank Loans. Greg Miller, President of Cache Valley Bank, testified that with respect to the \$250,000.00 loan to B & B Drywall that both parties participated in the initiation of the loan. The Court finds the total debt to Cache Valley Bank is approximately \$326,328.00, plus accruing interest. While the loan documents are only signed by Brad Olson in his capacity as President of B & B Drywall, Inc., and as a personal guarantor of the loan, the Court notes that all of the loan proceeds were either disbursed to suppliers directly or into the B&B checking accounts over which both parties had control, and the Court is persuaded that because of the way in which the parties handled the corporation financial affairs and personally benefitted from the corporation assets that all of the business debt should be treated as marital debt.

17. Co-mingling Found. The Court finds that the parties have co-mingled their personal and business financial affairs to a point that in order for this Court to make an equitable division of the marital property and debts, it is reasonable and equitable to treat all of the parties personal and business assets and business debts as marital debts and make an equitable division of the same.

[. . .]

20. Vehicles. The Court determines the value of the 2001 Ford Expedition to be \$10,000.00 and awards it to the Petitioner. The Court determines the value of the 1989 Ford Truck, which was impounded and sold, to be \$500.00, and awards it to the Respondent.³

[. . .]

36. Value of Equipment in Nibley Shop and Dominion over Equipment. Husband has claimed that Wife has also had the exclusive use of the household furnishings and the tools and equipment that were stored in the Nibley shop which both Husband and Mark Davis valued at approximately \$96,000.00. These items were in the Nibley shop at the time he left the residence (and was later excluded from the residence by the Protective Order) and were stored in the shop built adjacent to the Nibley home.

37. Cache Valley Bank Inspection of Equipment. On August 3, 2005, Cache Valley Bank through its loan officer Terry Oliver traveled to the Nibley property with Husband and obtained entry to the shop and took photographs of the equipment in the shop. Upon entry to the shop, Husband told Mr. Oliver that substantial amounts of B & B equipment had been removed from the shop. He immediately provided a list of said equipment to Cache Valley Bank, who had a secured lien (UCC-1) on all of the B&B Drywall, Inc. equipment. The Court notes that Mr. Oliver's entry to the shop occurred before the appointment of a receiver.

[. . .]

39. Evidence of Existence of Equipment. The Court finds that as to those items of equipment which were still in the shop on August 3, 2005, as evidenced by the photographs, Wife has had exclusive use and possession of the same. Terry Oliver testified that the Bank has made

³ The 2001 Ford Expedition, which Wife testified was her personal vehicle, and which was titled in the corporation, was listed on the corporation's depreciation schedules and over the course of the last few years fully expensed (depreciated) by the company. *Defendant's Exhibit 1, tab 6; Tr. 443.*

demand on Wife for the equipment and the Bank has even filed a separate lawsuit to recover the equipment secured by its UCC lien, which case was also assigned to this Court for disposition.

40. Money in Safes. Husband testified that when he left the residence in December 2004 the parties had \$28,000.00 in a safe located in the attic of the Nibley home and \$4,100.00 in a safe in the basement. Wife denied that these funds existed; however, during the hearing on temporary orders before Commissioner Garner, Wife acknowledged that she removed from the attic safe a sum of money, at least \$20,500.00, and was ordered by Commissioner Garner to account for the money. Wife's accounting [Respondent's Ex. #1, tab 16] listed \$5,000.00 as being used to pay off the Trendwest timeshare. This accounting, however, is inconsistent with Petitioner's Ex. #1, tab 45, which shows monthly and quarterly payments on the timeshare after the time period Wife claims to have used a portion of the \$20,500.00 to pay off the timeshare. In light of the Court's treatment of denying the Petitioner any increase in her premarital interest in the Nibley home, the Court believes it has disposed of all the parties' real and personal property.

[. . .]

42. Credibility of Petitioner. The Court finds the Petitioner's credibility was a concern to the Court, and in particular found her testimony to be less than credible with respect to disposition of the guns; the accounting for the money in the safe, and in particular the payoff of the Timeshare, as well as her claimed lack of any knowledge as to the business expenditures, which was inconsistent in light of the testimony that she reconciled the bank statements as part of her duties.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

[. . .]

2. "[T]he primary purpose of a property division, in conjunction with an alimony award, is to achieve a fair, just, and equitable result between the parties." *Riley v. Riley*, 2006 UT App 214, ¶ 27, 138 P.3d 84. The primary goal of this Court in any divorce proceeding is to accomplish an equitable division of the assets and debts of the parties. Divorce by its very nature is an equitable proceeding.

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